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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON
AT TACOMA

JAMES STAPLES, TABO MACK, DON
CHO, and KEITH JAMES,

Plaintiffs,
V.

DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND
HEALTH SERVICES, an agency of the State
of Washington, ROBIN ARNOLD-
WILLIAMS, in her officia capacity as
Secretary, and in her individual capacity,
KATHLEEN HARVEY, in her officid
capacity as Regional Administrator, and in her
individual capacity, PATRICIA LASHWAY,
in her official capacity as Regional
Administrator, and in her individual capacity,
and MICHAEL TYERS, in his official
capacity as regional Administrator, and in his
individual capacity,

Defendants.

Case No. C07 5443 RIB

ORDER GRANTING
DEFENDANT'S MOTION
FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT
DISMISSING PLAINTIFF
JAMES STAPLES
CLAIMS AND ORDER
DENYING
DEFENDANTS MOTION
TO STRIKE JAMES
STAPLES
DECLARATION.

This matter comes before the court on Defendants Motion for Summary Judgment. Dkt. 86. The

court has considered the pleadings filed in support of and in opposition to the motion and the file herein.

|. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On August 22, 2007, the plaintiffs James Staples, Tabo Mack, Don Cho, and Keith James filed a

civil action against the Washington State Department of Social and Health Services ("“DSHS") and the

Secretary of DSHS, Robin Arnold-Williams, and three Regional Administrators for DSHS, Kathleen
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Harvey, Patricia Lashway, and Michael Tyersin their official capacities. Dkt. 1. The plaintiffs also brought
suit against the defendants in their individual capacities. Id.

The plaintiffs alleged in their complaint that the defendants discriminated and retaliated against them
because of their race. Dkt. 1. The plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on March 4, 2008. Dkt. 27 The
amended complaint alleged that the defendants: (1) violated the plaintiffs’ rights under Title VI of the Civil
Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2, and 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1981 by discriminating against the plaintiffs because of
their race; (2) retaliated against the plaintiffs because of their complaints about unfavorable treatment due
to racial discrimination, in violation of Title VIl and 42 U.S.C. § 1981; and (3) have a genera or
widespread practice of discrimination based on race and retaliation. Dkt. 27. The plaintiffs plead both
disparate impact and disparate treatment under Title VI and 42 U.S.C. § 1981. Dkt. 27. The plaintiffs also
alleged that the defendants Ms. Arnold-Williams, Ms. Harvey, Ms. Lashway and Mr. Tyers discriminated
against the plaintiffs on the basis of race while acting under the color of state law in violation of 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983. Dkt. 27.

1. MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

On January 13, 2009, the defendants filed a motion for summary judgment requesting that the court
dismiss plaintiff James Staples from this action. Dkt. 86. The defendants assert that Staples’ claims against
them should be dismissed because the defendants are not proper defendants. Dkt. 86. First, the defendants
argue that individual employees cannot be held liable under Title V11 for discrimination or retaliation. DKt.
86. Second, the defendants assert that states, state agencies or individuals in their official capacity cannot
be sued under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Dkt. 86. Third, the defendants argue that only
individual defendants that caused or personally participated in causing the alleged deprivation of protected
rights are subject to liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Dkt. 86.

In their motion for summary judgment, the defendants also argue that Staples’ claims should be
dismissed because (1) Staples failed to identify the specific employment practice or selection criteria, by
using statistical evidence, which resulted in a disparate impact on his protected class; and (2) Staples failed
to produce specific and substantial evidence to meet a prima facie case for disparate treatment or
retaliation, and even if he did, he produced no evidence that DSHS's asserted legitimate non-
discriminatory/retaliatory reason was pretextual. Dkt. 86. Finally, the defendants assert that their arguments
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inrelation to Staples claims on Title VII also applied to his claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983, and, thus, these claims should be dismissed. 1d.

On February 3, 2009, Staples filed a response to the defendants motion for summary judgment.
Dkt. 97. Staples argues that there are genuine issues of material fact on his claims of racial discrimination
and retaliation and that he met the prima facie case for discrimination and retaliation. Dkt. 97.

On February 5, 2009, the defendants filed areply to Staples' response. Dkt. 98. The defendants
further argue that the court should grant their motion for summary judgment because (1) Staples' response
to their motion was untimely; (2) Staples failed to address or provide any evidence in support of his clam
for disparate impact; (3) Staples’ response failed to establish a prima facie case of disparate treatment; and
(4) Staplesfailed to provide specific factual evidence that the Letter of Reprimand was a pretext for race-
based discrimination or retaliation. Dkt. 98. Further, the defendants move to strike Staples’ declaration
because the defendants object to the authenticity of Staples’ unsigned declaration and its failure to comply
with CR 56(e). Dkt. 98. The defendants request that, even if the court were to accept Staples declaration,
the court should strike paragraphs 3, 4, 11, 12, 13, and 19 because the paragraphs are a verbatim recitation
of conclusory allegationsin Staples amended complaint. Dkt. 98.

[1l. RELEVANT FACTS

The relevant facts herein were supplied by the defendants, unless otherwise noted, because the
plaintiff did not contest the defendants showing of the facts, nor did he provide a separate version of the
facts surrounding this action.

The plaintiff James Staples, an African American male, began his employment with DSHS in 1974.
Dkt. 97-2 at 2; see also Dkt. 86 at 2. On October 5, 2004, Staples was assigned to the Juvenile
Rehabilitation Administration as a Juvenile Rehabilitation Coordinator (JRC). Dkt. 88 at 2. Asa JRC,
Staples' job responsibilities included: serving as one of the two Functional Family Therapy Coordinators
(FTTCs); providing Functional Family Therapy (FFT) services, attending weekly FFT consultations;
providing Functional Family Parole Services (FFPS); assisting the other Region 4 JRC with facilitating
FFPS case staffing; and working with Regional Program Managers to assure the Region’s FFPS Adherence
Plan was fully implemented. Dkt. 88 at 2.

As of December 2004, Staples started extensive training regarding FFT and FFP. Dkt. 88-2 at 5.
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As of January 2005, Staples’ FFT performance work started to be reviewed and he was provided
performance feedback through FFT, Inc. clinical supervision program. Dkt. 88-2 at 5. This review ended
September 10, 2006. Dkt. 88-2.

In March 2005, Staples attended a 2-day FFT follow-up training. Dkt. 88-2 at 5.

In June 2005, Staples attended a 2-day FFT follow-up training and received group and individual
instruction on Client Services System (CSS). Dkt. 88-2 at 5. Staples was rated “not well” in adherence and
“fairly well” in competence. Dkt. 88-2 at 6.A rating expectation of “well” in adherence and competency is
reguired to maintain FFT certification. Dkt. 88-2 at 6.

In July 2005, Staples again received group and individual instruction on Client Services System
(CSS). Dkt. 88-2 at 5.

On July 29, 2005, Staples reviewed and signed the performance goals for a JRA FFT Coordinator
(FFTC). Dkt. 88 at 2.

In September 2005, Staples was rated “fairly well” in adherence and competence. Dkt. 88-2 at 6.

In November 2005, Staples attended a 2-day FFT follow-up training. Dkt. 88-2 at 5. On November
2, 2005, Staples met with his supervisor Nancy German to review his FFT caseload required case
documentation, GTR’s, Informal Improvement Plan, performance goals, and position skills and abilities.
Dkt. 88-2 at 7. On November 18, 2005, Staples again met with his supervisor Nancy German to review his
FFT caseload required case documentation, Informal Improvement Plan, performance goals, and position
skills and abilities. Dkt. 88-2 at 7.

On December 9, 2005, Staples met with his supervisor Nancy German to review his FFT caseload
required case documentation, Global Therapist Rating (GTR), Informal Improvement Plan, performance
goals, and position skills and abilities. Dkt. 88-2 at 7.

In January 2006, Staples was struggling to meet acceptable FFT therapy standards and was placed
on an Informal Improvement Plan. Dkt. 88-2 at 6. On January 6, 2006, Staples met with his supervisor
Nancy German to review his FFT caseload required case documentation, GTR’s, Informal I mprovement
Plan, performance goals, and position skills and abilities. Dkt. 88-2 at 7. On January 20, 2006, German
wrote a memo to Staples documenting their past supervisory meetings and Staples' concerns about his

GTR scores, his being behind in CSS case documentation, and work with McLane, Staples FFT
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Consultant and Supervisor, to develop and implement the information improvement plan. Dkt. 88-2 at 7-8.
German’s memo also reminded Staples of the requirements necessary to keep his FFTC position. Dkt. 88-2
at 8.

In February 2006, Staples met with German to discuss his progress. Dkt. 88-2 at 8.

In March 2006, Staples attended a 2-day training on engagement and motivation. Dkt. 88-2 at 6.
DSHS states that Staples was rated as “fairly well” in adherence and competency. Dkt. 88-2 at 6. Staples
needed to improve his clinical skills and struggling to complete CSS case notes, assessments and case
closures. Dkt. 88-2 at 6. Again in March 2006, Staples met with German to discuss his progress. Dkt. 88-2
at 8. On March 8, 2006, McClane recommended that he work out a Formal Improvement Plan with
Staples. Dkt. 88-2 at 6.

In April 2006, Staples met with German to discuss his progress. Dkt. 88-2 at 8. On April 6, 2006,
Harvey received a copy of Staples’ formal improvement plan. Dkt. 88-2 at 7. Vollie Berry took over as
Staples FFT Consultant and Supervisor during the Formal Improvement Plan. Dkt. 88-2 at 7.

In May 2006, Staples met with German to discuss his progress. Dkt. 88-2 at 8.

In June 2006, Staples attended a 3-day initial FFT training. Dkt. 88-2 at 6. Staples was rated as “not
well” in adherence and competence. Dkt. 88-2 at 6. Again, Staples met with German to discuss his
progress. Dkt. 88-2 at 8. On June 20, 2006, Staples was directed to stop taking new FFT cases, complete
all outstanding cases by mid-September, 2006, and discontinue his FFT practice. Dkt. 88 at 3. DSHS
assertsthat thisis because Staples was unable to meet basic performance standards for FFT therapists. Dkt.
88 at 3. Jeff Patnode, an FFT Quality Assurance Administrator, called a Formal Performance Plan meeting
with Staples, his FFT Consultants (McLane and Berry) and his JRA Supervisor, Nancy German, to discuss
the results of the FFT Mid-Point Review. Dkt. 88-2 at 7. The FFT Review team, which involved a focused
review of Staples progress by Patnode, Berry, and Need (Washington State FFT Inc. Consultant), decided
that Staples should be decertified by FFT, Inc. by September 10. Dkt. 88-2 at 7. The FFT Review team
based their decision on alack of progress toward meeting goals and the risk for his clients that would
accompany practice of FFT outside the scope of design. Dkt. 88-2 at 7.

On July 6, 2006, German wrote a memo to Staples summarizing on-going supervisory meetings.

Dkt. 88-2 at 8; Exhibit J. DSHS states that this memo documented conversations with Staples about his
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potential FFT decertification and his position, and that this memo also provided notice to Staples that JRA
needed to investigate his job performance to determine whether disciplinary action was needed. Id.
Sometime around this time, Harvey initiated a JRA-based performance investigation after German’s memo.
Dkt. 88-2 at 8; Exhibit K.

Staples states, in his declaration in support of his response to the defendant’ s motion for summary
judgment, that he attended a staff meeting in August 2006 and told Harvey that he believed he was the
victim of employment discrimination because of his race. Dkt. 97-2 at 2. Staples states that the purpose of
the meeting was to discuss concerns raised in the DSHS employee survey regarding management and
administration issues. Dkt. 97-2 at 2. Staples states that Harvey was present at this meeting. Dkt. 97-2 at 2.

Staples asserts that he raised his concerns about racial discrimination in the workplace at a follow-
up staff meeting in September 2006. Dkt. 97-2 at 2. Staples states that Harvey was at this meeting. Dkt.
97-2 at 2. Staples contends that Harvey did not address this issue during the meeting or take any remedial
steps after the meeting. Dkt. 97-2 at 2. Also during September 2006, Staples FFT work performance
review, which started January 2005, ended. Dkt. 88-2 at 5. DSHS maintains that Staples received forty-
nine weekly model adherence and competency ratings by his FFT consultant/supervisor. Dkt. 88-2 at 5.
DSHS states that Staples' average adherence rating was 1.5 compared to an average rating of 4 for his peer
group. Dkt. 88-2 at 5. DSHS also states that his average competency rating was 1.5 compared to 3.7 for
his peer group. Dkt. 88-2 at 5.

In October 2006, Staples states that he sent a memo to Harvey with complaints about racial
discrimination and requested her assistance. Dkt. 97-2 at 2. Staples alleges that Harvey took no remedial
steps. Dkt. 97-2 at 2. Staples contends that his supervisor’s began complaining about his work
performance. Dkt. 97-2 at 2.

On December 14, 2006, JRA issued areport of itsinvestigation of Staples performance. Dkt. 88-2
at 8; Exhibit K. Around this time, Region 4 management evaluated the proper response to Staples
decertification. Dkt. 88-2 at 8. Harvey and Region 4 management decided that a Letter of Reprimand was
the appropriate level of discipline. Dkt. 88-2 at 8.

On February 13, 2007, Staples provided written comments to his 2007 Performance Review
including the comment that it was a “hostile work environment.” Dkt. 88-2 at 9; Exhibit L. Staples
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requested to be removed from German's supervision. Id.

On March 2, 2007, Harvey responded to Staples comments and invited him to speak to her and
gave him alist of resources including the EEOC and Washington State Human Rights Council. Dkt. 88-2 at
9; Exhibit M.

On May 1, 2007, Staples was issued a Letter of Reprimand, which was signed by Harvey. Dkt. 838
at 3; Exhibit D. DSHS alleges that this was a result of his inability to achieve and maintain the required
Functional Family Therapy (FFT) therapist adherence and competency standards and expected essential
functions of the FFTC component of his Region 4 JRC position. Dkt. 88 at 3; Exhibit D. DSHS contends
that the LOR did not impact Staples’ job title, office location, salary or benefits. Dkt. 88 at 3. Staples
remains in his JRC position, although there has been some job description modification because of his FFT
decertification. Dkt. 88 at 3. But, DSHS states that his salary remains at Range 49, which is consistent with
his peer group for classification. Dkt. 88 at 3. However, Staples alleges that this letter of reprimand was
issued without cause or justification and that he was performing his job as well or better than similarly-
situated non-complaining and/or white coworkers. Dkt. 97-2 at 2. Also, Staples maintains that the
similarly-situated non-complaining and/or white coworkers were not disciplined for the same level or a
lower level of job performance. Dkt. 97-2 at 3.

On May 4, 2007, Harvey received an email from Staples’ purported attorney, Anne Sulton,
indicating that Staples would file a union grievance and employment discrimination claim with the EEOC.
Dkt. 88-2 at 9; Exhibit N. On May 21, 2007, Harvey received an email from Sulton indicating that Staples
was planning to file an employment discrimination claim with Washington State Human Rights Council.
Dkt. 88-2 at 9; Exhibit N. On May 22, 2007, Harvey received an email from the Washington Federation of
State Employees (WFSE) that Staples had filed a grievance with the union because he alleged that
management did not have just cause to issue the letter of reprimand. Dkt. 88-2 at 9.

On June 18, 2007, Harvey attended a Step 1 grievance meeting with Staples and his union
representative. Dkt. 88-2 at 9.

On July 6, 2007, Harvey issued a grievance response upholding the Letter of Reprimand. Dkt. 88-2
ao.

In August 22 2007, Staplesfiled this lawsuit. Dkt. 1.
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Staples alleges that Harvey appeared before the union grievance committee in September 2007 and
testified against Staples. Dkt. 97-2 at 3. Staples's union grievance was dismissed. Dkt. 97-2 at 3. On
September 27, 2007, the Step 2 Grievance Resolution Panel heard Staples’ grievance. Dkt. 88-2 at 9. The
Panel upheld the Letter of Reprimand. Dkt. 88-2 at 9; Exhibit O

On October 16, 2007, DSHS received notice that Staples had filed a claim with the EEOC. Dkt.
88-2 at 10; Exhibit P. However, Staples withdrew the complaint before Harvey completed a response. Id.

On April 30, 2008, Staples requested that Harvey remove the letter of reprimand from his file. DKkt.
88-2 at 10; Exhibit Q. However, Harvey denied Staples’ request. Dkt. 88-2 at 10; Exhibit R.

V. DEFENDANTS MOTION TO STRIKE THE PLAINTIFF S RESPONSE TO SUMMARY

JUDGMENT MOTION.

The defendants, in their reply to Staples’ response to their motion for summary judgment, request
that the court grant an order striking Plaintiff’s Response to Summary Judgment Motion (Dkt. 97) filed on
behalf of plaintiff James Staples because it is untimely. CR 7(d) requires that a nonmoving party file a
response to a summary judgment motion “not later than the Monday before the noting date.” In this case,
that date was February 2, 2009. Staples filed his response on February 3, 2009. Dkt. 97. Staples offered no
explanation for his failure to meet the required deadline. Dkt. 97. While the defendants are correct that
Staples' response was untimely, it appears that the defendants were not prejudiced because they had time to
file areply by the noting date of February 6, 2009. In the interest of deciding the issues on their merits, the
defendants’ motion to strike should be denied.

V. DEFENDANTS OBJECTION TO THE AUTHENTICITY OF JAMES STAPLES DECLARATION

AND DEFENDANTS MOTION TO STRIKE PORTIONS OF THIS DECLARATION.

First, the defendants object to the authenticity of James Staples’ declaration because they argue that
it isunsigned and it fails to comply with CR 56(e). Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(€)(1) provides that
“asupporting or opposing affidavit must be made on personal knowledge, set out facts that would be
admissible in evidence, and show that the affiant is competent to testify on the matters stated.” Verification
requirements for an affidavit are satisfied so long as the unsworn declaration contains the phrase “under
penalty of perjury” and states that the document istrue. Kersting v. U.S,, 865 F.Supp. 669 (D.Hawai'i
1994); see also 28 U.S.C.A. § 1746. Declarations made under penalty of perjury which are submitted in
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lieu of affidavits are subject to the same requirements as affidavits submitted to support and oppose
summary judgment. Capital Cities/ABC, Inc. v. Ratcliff, 953 F.Supp.1228 (D.Kan. 1997), affirmed 141
F.3d 1405, certiorari denied 525 U.S. 873. Here, Staples’ declaration only states “ James Staples, being first
duly sworn under oath, deposes and says.” Dkt. 97-2. Although the signature on Staples declaration is
questionable and the declaration does not meet the requirements for a declaration opposing summary
judgment, the court will accept the declaration for the purpose of deciding the defendants’ motion for
summary judgment on the merits.

Second, the defendants request that, if the court considers Staples declaration sufficient, the court
strike paragraphs 3, 4, 11, 12, 13 and 19 because “the statements contained herein are verbatim recitations
of conclusory alegationsin Plaintiffs Amended Complaint.” Dkt. 98. Rule 56(e)(2) states that “when a
motion for summary is properly made and supported, an opposing party may not rely merely on allegations
or denialsin its own pleadings; rather its response must—»by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this
rule—set out specific facts showing a genuine issue for trial.” Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(1), an affidavit
supporting summary judgment must be made on personal knowledge, set forth such facts that would be
admissible in evidence, and show that the affiant is competent to testify on the matters stated. Shakur v.
Schriro, 514 F.3d 878, 898-890 (9™ Cir. 2008). Conclusory affidavits that do not affirmatively show
personal knowledge of specific facts are insufficient. 1d. The court concurs with the defendants that these
paragraphs are merely allegations that appeared in Staples Amended Complaint and do not set out specific
facts. Striking them, however is not the appropriate sanction. The court will accord these paragraphs the
proper weight and defendants' motion to strike should be denied.

VI. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

Summary judgment is proper only if the pleadings, the discovery and disclosure materials on file,
and any affidavits show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the movant is entitled
to judgment as a matter of law. Fed.R.Civ.P. 56 (c). The moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter
of law when the nonmoving party fails to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of aclamin
the case on which the nonmoving party has the burden of proof. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317,
323 (1985). Thereis no genuine issue of fact for trial where the record, taken as a whole, could not lead a

rational trier of fact to find for the non moving party. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp.,
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475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986) (non-moving party must present specific, significant probative evidence, not
smply “some metaphysical doubt.”). See also Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(e). Conversaly, a genuine dispute over a
meaterial fact existsif there is sufficient evidence supporting the claimed factual dispute, requiring ajudge or
jury to resolve the differing versions of the truth. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 253
(1986); T.W. Elec. Service Inc. v. Pacific Electrical Contractors Association, 809 F.2d 626, 630 (9th Cir.
1987).

The determination of the existence of a material fact is often a close question. The court must
consider the substantive evidentiary burden that the nonmoving party must meet at trial —e.g., a
preponderance of the evidence in most civil cases. Anderson, 477 U.S. at 254, T.W. Elect. Service Inc.,
809 F.2d at 630. The court must resolve any factual issues of controversy in favor of the nonmoving party
only when the facts specifically attested by that party contradict facts specifically attested by the moving
party. The nonmoving party may not merely state that it will discredit the moving party’s evidence at trial,
in the hopes that evidence can be developed at trial to support the claim. T.W. Elect. Service Inc., 809
F.2d at 630 (relying on Anderson, supra). Conclusory, non specific statements in affidavits are not
sufficient, and “missing facts” will not be “presumed.” Lujan v. National Wildlife Federation, 497 U.S.
871, 888-89 (1990).

VIl. DISCUSSION

Title VII provides that it is an unlawful employment practice for an employer to “discharge any
individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any individual with respect to his compensation, terms,
conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual’srace...” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1).
Similarly, 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1981 protect individuals from race discrimination in the workplace, and 42 U.S.C. 8§
1983 protects plaintiffs from individuals acting under the color of state law.

A. Proper Defendants
The defendants assert that Ms. Arnold-Williams, Ms. Harvey, Ms. Lashway and Mr. Tyers cannot be
ndividualy liable, as employees, for the alleged discriminatory conduct under Title VII. Dkt.86. See Miller
. Maxwell’s Int’| Inc., 991 F.2d 583, 587-588 (9th Cir. 1993). Under Title VI, civil liability is limited to
he employer. Id. at 587; See also Sherez v. Sate of Hawai'i Dept. of Educ., 96 F.Supp.2d 1138, 1145

D.Hawai'i 2005) (holding that a state employee, even a supervisor, is not individually liable as employers
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nder Title VII.). Therefore, under Title VII, Staples possible relief is limited to his employer, DSHS, and
[::e cannot hold defendants Arnold-Williams, Harvey, Lashway or Tyers liable in their individual capacities.
Therefore, Staples’ Title VII claims against Arnold-Williams, Harvey, Lashway and Tyers should be
dismissed.
The defendants also argue that the defendant, DSHS, and the individuals in their official capacities

annot be sued under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Dkt. 70 at 8. Under these statutes, actions
ainst the state, state agency or state officer in his or her official capacity are not permitted. See Will v.

Michigan Dep’t of State Police, 491 U.S. 58, 64 (1989) (holding that the state nor its officials acting in their

fficial capacity are “persons’ under § 1983), see Pittman v. Oregon, 509 F.3d 1065, 1070-1074 (9th Cir.
2007) (stating that 42 U.S.C. § 1981 does not permit actions against the state or arms of the state.)
Therefore, Staples’ 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims against DSHS and against Arnold-
Williams, Harvey, Lashway and Tyersin their official capacities should be dismissed.
However, under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983, Staples could have a claim against Arnold-
Williams, Harvey, Lashway and Tyersin their individual capacities. See Price v. Akaka, 928 F.2d 824, 828

9th Cir. 1990). In order to establish a prima facie case, Staples must present sufficient evidence that the

efendant was a “person” acting under color of state law, and the defendant deprived the plaintiff of aright,

rivilege, or immunity secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States. Briley v. California, 564
F.2d 849, 853 (9th Cir. 1977); see also Pittman v. Oregon, 509 F.3d 1065, 1068 (9th Cir. 2007) (stating
hat “the prohibition on discrimination by a state or its officials contained in 8 1981 can be enforced against
State actors only by means of 8 1983" in light of the enactment of 8 1981(c) and holding that § 1981 does

ot create a cause of action against states.) Vague and conclusory allegations of official participationin a
Eivil rights violations are not sufficient to support a claim under § 1983. Ivey v. Board of Regents, 673 F.2d
P66 (9th Cir. 1982)
In Staples’ response, he does not allege any personal participation by Lashway or Tyers. See Dkt.

O7. Furthermore, Staples’ only statement about Arnold-Williams' participation in the events that lead up to

his suit are that “these materialy adverse personnel actions being taken against Staples by Harvey were
aken with the knowledge and consent and approval and/or ratification of Willaims™ and that “Williams took
ot [sic] remedial stepsto address the racia discrimination issues Staplesraised.” Dkt. 97; see Dkt. 97-2 9
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19. These vague and conclusory alegations are not sufficient to establish personal participation on the part
of Lashway, Tyers and Arnold-Williams. Therefore, the defendants Lashway, Tyers and Arnold-Williams
should be dismissed from this suit.

B. Disparate Impact

A disparate impact discrimination claim challenges “employment practices that are facially neutral in

heir treatment of different groups but that in fact fall more harshly on one group than another and cannot be

ustified by business necessity.” Stout v. Potter, 276 F.3d 1118, 1121 (Sth Cir. 2002) (citations omitted).

t the outset, the plaintiff making such a claim must make out a prima facie case and carries the burden of
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emonstrating that the challenged employment practices produce a significantly discriminatory selection

=
o

attern. Eldredge v. Carpenters 46 Northern California Counties Joint Apprenticeship and Training

=
=

ommittee, 833 F.2d 1334, 1338 (9th Cir. 1987). “It is not sufficient to present evidence raising an

=
N

nference of discrimination...the plaintiff ‘must actually prove the discriminatory impact at issue.”” Stout, 276

[
w

F.3d at 1122. A primafacie caseis “usually accomplished by statistical evidence showing that an

[EY
IS

ployment practice selects members of a protected class in a proportion smaller than their percentage in

=
(62}

he pool of actual applicants.” Id.

=
(o]

For a plaintiff to establish a primafacie case of disparate impact under Title V1, Staples must: (1)

=
\‘

show a significant disparate impact on a protected class or group; (2) identify the specific employment
18 [practices or selection criteria at issue; and (3) show a causal relationship between the challenged practices or
19 [riteria and the disparate impact. Hemmings v. Tidyman's Inc., 285 F.3d 1174, 1190 (9th Cir. 2002) citing
20 [Atonio v. Wards Cove Packing Co., Inc., 810 F.2d 1477, 1482 (9th Cir. 1987). Staples has the burden of

21 [demonstrating that the challenged employment practice or practices produce a significantly discriminatory
22 |iselection pattern. Staples has not provided the court with any evidence of a significantly discriminatory

23 |iselection pattern or a specific policy or practice that causes a discriminatory impact against his protected

24 (class. See Dkt. 97. Further, Staples offers no statistical evidence as support for his disparate impact claim.
25 (See Dkt. 97. Therefore, the defendants motion for summary judgment on the issue of Staples’ disparate

26 |impact claim should be granted.

27

28

ORDER
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C. Disparate Treatment

Digparate treatment discrimination is “the most easily understood type of discrimination...[t]he

Employer simply treats some people less favorably than others’ because of one or more of their protected
haracteristics. Hazen Paper Co. v. Biggins, 507 U.S. 604, 609, 113 S.Ct. 1701, 1705 (1993), citing
Teamstersv. United States, 431 U.S. 324, 335-36 n.15, 97 S.Ct. 1843, 1855 n.15 (1977). “Proof of

iscriminatory motive is critical, although it can in some situations be inferred from the mere fact of

ifferencesin treatment...”. 1d.

The three-stage burden-shifting test set forth in McDonnell Douglass Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792,
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02-804 (1973), applies to both federal and state claims for disparate treatment discrimination under Title

=
o

Il . See Coghlan v. American Seafoods Co., LLC., 413 F.3d 1090, 1093-94 (9th Cir. 2005). Under the

=
=

McDon